RECEIVED, 5/8/2013 14:48:34, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ANA I. GARDINER,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case

No. SC11-2311

The Florida Bar File No. 2010-71,157 (11G)

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Jennifer R. Falcone Moore, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Miami Branch Office 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131-2404 (305) 377-4445 Florida Bar No. 624284 imoore@flabar.org

Kenneth Lawrence Marvin, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 200999 kmarvin@flabar.org

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On December 7, 2011, the Florida Bar filed a formal Complaint, alleging that Respondent, Ms. Ana I. Gardiner, violated Rules 3-4.3 (Misconduct and Minor Misconduct), 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), and 4-8.4(d) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

This Court referred the matter to the Eleventh Judicial Circuit for appointment of a referee, and the Honorable Sheree Cunningham was appointed on December 21, 2011, and thereafter granted Respondent's motion to recuse. On March 5, 2012 the Honorable David Crow was appointed in her stead, and presided over the proceedings.

The following evidence was presented at the Final Hearing in this cause:

Respondent was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1988. Thereafter, in 1998, after ten years of family law practice, Respondent was appointed to the Circuit Court bench in Broward County. (R. Ex. 14). The events giving rise to these proceedings began in March, 2007, when Respondent presided over the first degree capital murder case, styled *State of Florida v. Omar Loureiro*. (TFB Ex. 5; TFB Ex.

10). Assistant State Attorney Howard Scheinberg was the lead prosecutor on the case. (TFB Ex. 3, page 10).

Several days into the guilt phase of the proceedings, on the night of Friday, March 23, 2007, Respondent met up with ASA Scheinberg at a local restaurant, Timpano's Chop House and Martini Bar (Timpano's). (TFB Ex. 8 page 10-11; TFB Ex. 17, page 1). Respondent was at the restaurant with then law student Ms. Sheila Alu, and two other women. (TR 446; TFB Ex. 17, page 1). ASA Scheinberg and the late Judge Charles Kaplan, were also present at the restaurant and sat at a table beside Respondent. (TR 446; TFB Ex. 17, page 1). This appears to have been an unplanned, chance encounter. (TFB Ex. 3, page 14-15; TFB Ex. 17, page 1). At the conclusion of their meals and drinks, Respondent and Ms. Alu decided to continue their evening with ASA Scheinberg and Judge Kaplan at a nearby bar, The Blue Martini. (TR 508; TFB Ex. 17, page 2).

Respondent went to The Blue Martini with Judge Kaplan, while ASA Scheinberg drove with Ms. Alu. (TR 450; TFB Ex. 17, page 2). During their drive, Ms. Alu raised the issue of the appearance of impropriety in ASA Scheinberg's socializing with the judge who was presiding over the capital murder trial in which he was lead prosecutor, while the guilt phase of the proceedings was still ongoing. (TR 512-13; TFB Ex. 17, page 2). Due to Ms. Alu's accusations, ASA Scheinberg

was visibly upset upon entering The Blue Martini. (TFB Ex. 17, page 2; TR 508). ASA Scheinberg immediately asked to speak to Judge Kaplan privately, and both left shortly thereafter. (TR 451; TFB Ex. 17, page 2). Respondent was aggressively persistent in her attempts to determine the source of ASA Scheinberg's unease, even following the two out of the bar. However, both Kaplan and ASA Scheinberg refused to discuss the issue with her at that time. (TR 452-454, 508; TFB Ex. 7, pg 36-44; TFB Ex. 17, page 2). Undeterred by ASA Scheinberg's evasion of the question, Respondent exchanged several phone calls with ASA Scheinberg beginning in the early morning hours of that Friday night and continuing throughout the weekend. (TR 508, 509, 510; TFB Composite Ex. 2b; TFB Ex. 7, pgs 36-44; TFB Ex. 17). When the guilt phase of the trial reconvened on Monday, March 26, 2007, neither Scheinberg nor Respondent disclosed their encounters at Timpano's and the Blue Martini to the defense, nor did they disclose the phone calls exchanged over the weekend. (TR 511-13, 520; TFB Ex. 7, pgs 44-45). This failure to disclose, when disclosure was required, left the defense with the misleading impression that there was nothing to disclose, and that there was nothing that could give rise to the appearance of impropriety in this case.

On March 27, 2007, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder. (TR 512; TFB Ex. 5; TFB Ex. 17, page 3). Respondent immediately

adjourned to her chambers and placed a call to Judge Kaplan asking that he have ASA Scheinberg call her. (TR 512). ASA Scheinberg called that evening and the two engaged in a long telephone conversation, in which he told Respondent about Ms. Alu's allegations of the appearance of impropriety raised by their encounters the prior weekend. (TR 512-13; TFB Ex. 7 page 48; TFB Ex. 17, page 3). Respondent calmed ASA Scheinberg down, told him not to worry, and dissuaded him from taking any action regarding their encounter. (TR 513; TFB Ex. 17, page 3). From that day forward, Respondent and ASA Scheinberg embarked on a significant emotional relationship, wherein they became each other's confidants. (TFB Ex. 7, pages 49-50; TFB Ex. 17). They helped each other through the most traumatic events of their lives, including the death of family members, their divorces, and raising their children as single parents. (TR 514; TFB Ex. 7, pages 49-50,50-53; TFB Ex. 8, page 59; TFB Ex. 16, page 36, 71-76; TFB Ex. 17). There was extensive testimony at trial of the traumatic impact, and severe depression created by, the deaths of Respondent's grandmother and father within a couple of months of each other. (TR 434-37, 457, 462-3, 514). Respondent testified that she "went under the pillow." (TR 515). She was shutting people out and not speaking with anyone due to her depression, except to those who were most close to her, including ASA Scheinberg. (TR 515; TFB Ex. 7, page 59-60).

These events occurred while the Loureiro capital murder case was still ongoing. The penalty phase of the trial began on April 30, 2007, and the jury recommended death on May 1, 2007. (TR 466; TFB 3, page 12). Respondent imposed the death sentence on August 24, 2007. (TR 465; TFB 3, page 12). Between March 23, 2007, the date of their encounter at Timpano's, and August 24, 2007, the date Respondent imposed the death penalty on defendant Loureiro. Respondent and ASA Scheinberg engaged in 1,420 telephonic communications. There were 949 telephone calls and 471 text messages during this period between Respondent and ASA Scheinberg. (TFB Composite Ex. 2b). Indeed, On April 30 and May 1, 2007, the dates of the penalty phase of the proceedings, they engaged in 10 telephone calls and 2 text messages. (TFB Composite Ex. 2b; TR 515). Additionally, on the day before, the day of, and the day following Respondent's imposition of the death penalty on Defendant Louriero, there were 44 telephonic communications between Respondent and ASA Scheinberg; specifically, 19 phone calls and 25 text messages. (TFB Composite Ex. 2b; TR 516). At no point during the pendency of the trial did Respondent reveal the encounter at Timpano's, nor the significant nature of her relationship with ASA Scheinberg, to the defendant or his counsel. (TR 511-13, 520).

In March of 2008 while preparing for his upcoming appeal, Defendant Loureiro's attorney became aware of Respondent and ASA Scheinberg's evening at Timpano's and The Blue Martini, and brought it to the attention of the Court. (TR 88, 494-5, 500; TFB Ex. 5). In response to this new information, on November 13, 2008 the Judicial Qualifications Commission (JQC) convened a panel to investigate whether or not the Respondent had engaged in any misconduct related to her encounter with ASA Scheinberg. (TR 475-6; TFB Ex. 3). At this time the JQC was unaware of the significant emotional relationship that had developed between Respondent and ASA Scheinberg. (TR 519-525; TFB Ex. 1, page 4).

Between the end of March 2008, when the details of the Timpano's incident first began to come to light, and the end of August 2008, shortly before the JQC testimony, Respondent and ASA Scheinberg engaged in 3,388 phone calls and text messages. (TFB Composite Ex. 2b). During this 154 day period, there was an average of 22 communications per day, which is almost one communication per hour for each 24 hour day. (See TFB Ex. 1; TFB Ex. 2; TFB Composite Ex. 2b; TFB Ex. 16, page 38). Thus, the relationship was increasing in intensity during this period of time.

Despite the increasing intensity of their communications, during her testimony before the JQC panel, Respondent misled the JQC into believing that she shared

nothing more than an inconsequential and purely professional relationship with ASA Scheinberg. (TR 518-20; TFB Ex. 1, page 5; TFB Ex. 3 page 51-53). For example, during the hearing, one of the JQC panelists, Judge Wolfe, requested that Respondent clarify her relationship with ASA Scheinberg, and specifically asked, "[c]ould you explain the relationship with Howard Scheinberg since 1987?" (TR 518; TFB Ex. 1, page 5; TFB Ex. 3, page 51). Respondent answered that she first knew of him through an associate of hers at her old law firm, and that she "never, ever had lunch with him before, never socialized with him before. This (Timpano's) was the first time [she] ever, ever saw him outside, basically, of the courthouse . . . [and] he had, [she] believe[s] two cases in front of [her] before " (TFB Ex. 3, page 52). Judge Wolfe then followed up by asking, "[d]uring the time that you were a judge and he was a prosecutor, you did not have any kind of social relationship with Howard Scheinberg?" (TR 519; TFB Ex. 3, page 52). To which Respondent answered:

If I saw him maybe at one retirement - - they give plaquings to the younger prosecutors when they leave after three years. He could have been at a plaquing where the attorneys and the judges go. But I don't ever remember even sitting with him and socializing.

(TFB Ex. 3, page 52). Additionally, another JQC panelist, Mr. Russell, asked several times if the only thing she believed she had done wrong was to simply be in

Scheinberg's presence that night at Timpano's, to which Respondent answered in the affirmative. (TFB Ex. 3, pgs. 41-42, 46).

Thus, Respondent gave technically accurate answers but omitted the pertinent details that would have portrayed the true nature of their relationship, and thereby created the false impression that ASA Scheinberg was nothing more than a professional acquaintance. Based on this false impression of minimal and purely professional contact between them, the JQC gave Respondent an extremely lenient sanction following its investigation. (TFB Ex.1, page 6). The JQC imposed only an admonishment, termed a "fireside chat," for Respondent's conduct which gave rise to the appearance of impropriety from her supposedly isolated encounter with ASA Scheinberg during a capital murder trial. (TR 525).

Defendant Loureiro filed a Motion for a New Trial based on the previously undisclosed contact between Respondent and ASA Scheinberg at Timpano's during the trial. (TFB Ex. 5). In April of 2009, the Broward State Attorney hired a special prosecutor to conduct an investigation regarding Respondent's relationship with ASA Scheinberg. (TR 86-88). Both Respondent and ASA Scheinberg sat for depositions, and for the first time Respondent acknowledged ongoing communications by phone with ASA Scheinberg. (TR 88-9; TFB Ex. 7, page 53; TFB Ex. 8). As a result, the Special Prosecutor recommended a new trial, indicating

that the imposition of such a severe sanction as the death penalty could not stand where there was such a taint attached to the proceedings. (TR 91). A new trial was conducted, following which Loureiro was convicted and sentenced to life in prison.

Nearly one year following the granting of the motion for a new trial, and upon learning that it had been misled by Respondent's prior testimony, the JQC initiated additional proceedings against Respondent. These proceedings led to Respondent's resignation from the bench in order to avoid the JQC's prosecution, and her subsequent agreement not to seek judicial office again. (TR 505; TFB Ex. 1; TFB Ex. 11; TFB Ex. 12). Thereafter, the JQC's case against her was dismissed.

Throughout these proceedings Respondent has maintained that she "just didn't see [the night at Timpano's]" as creating an appearance of impropriety. (TFB Ex. 3, page 19). She has repeatedly stated that it "just didn't cross [her] mind," and that she just "didn't think of it." (TR 447; TFB Ex. 3, page 36). Indeed, Respondent testified that she did not see her communications with ASA Scheinberg as improper, even though they occurred while the death penalty case was still ongoing. (TR 515). Despite these assertions, Respondent has acknowledged that, at all times, she was aware of her obligations to disclose their encounter, and she was aware of the judicial canons governing her conduct, and of her ethical obligations. (See TR 96-97, 483-484, 507; TFB Ex. 3, page 19; TFB Ex. 16, page 19).

Throughout the disciplinary proceedings, Respondent has refused to accept responsibility for the natural results of her misconduct with ASA Scheinberg, and has shown no actual remorse for the effect her actions had on the defendant, the family members of the victim, or the criminal justice system as a whole. For example, when she was asked on cross examination whether she agreed that her actions affected the justice system as it is supposed to work in a death penalty case, Respondent replied,

[t]hat I know I said, and I have thought about it again and again, and *I don't know why I said it*. But I don't understand clearly in my mind right now if you were to ask me how I did that, what exactly I meant by the way it was supposed to work.

(TR 117)(emphasis added).

Following the presentation of the evidence, and consideration of the written closing arguments of counsel, the Referee issued his Report of Referee containing his findings and recommendations. (ROR). Specifically the Referee found that Respondent was dishonest and intentionally misled the defense and the JQC regarding her relationship with ASA Scheinberg during the pendency of the death penalty proceedings; and further, that her misconduct was prejudicial to the administrative of justice, both during the death penalty case and during the subsequent JQC investigation. The Referee recommended Respondent be found

guilty of violating Rules 3-4.3 (Misconduct and Minor Misconduct); 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation); and 4-8.4(d) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct in the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. (ROR 14). In aggravation the Referee considered Respondent's substantial experience in the practice of law and as a judge, and found that Respondent's actions constituted multiple offenses. (ROR 18). In mitigation, the Referee considered Respondent's lack of a disciplinary record, emotional problems, full disclosure to the Disciplinary Board, mental impairment, remorse, loss of her judgeship, and her good character. (ROR 18-20). Based upon his findings the Referee recommended that Respondent receive a one year suspension, and that she pay The Florida Bar's costs in these proceedings. (ROR 17).

On January 9, 2013, Respondent submitted a Motion for Retroactive Application of Suspension, alleging that she had engaged in a "self-imposed suspension." Respondent averred that she voluntarily suspended her practice of law in early December 2011, and that any suspension received in these proceedings should run retroactive to that date. On January 14, 2013 the Referee issued his order, which stated:

The Motion is denied. There is no legal authority or factual predicate in the evidence for this request. There is no legal precedent nor does the Respondent cite any legal precedent for the proposition that a voluntary sabbatical or leave of absence while still a member in good standing of the Bar is a suspension or should retroactively apply to a suspension recommendation. Furthermore, as a matter of fact, the Respondent's voluntary sabbatical/leave of absence was not a "self imposed" discipline for the conduct for which I recommended a finding of guilt. To the contrary, the Respondent maintained throughout the proceedings that THE FLORIDA BAR lacked jurisdiction to discipline her, that she is not guilty of the charges, or alternatively should not be disciplined in addition to her relinquishment of her judicial position as a result of the Judicial Qualifications Commission inquiry. The Respondent's voluntary sabbatical/leave of absence was for personal and emotional reasons which, at least in part, were to defend the allegations of misconduct.

(Order on Motion for Retroactive Application of Suspension).

The Florida Bar challenges the recommended sanction of a one year suspension for Respondent's misconduct, because it is too lenient given the totality of the circumstances. The proper sanction is disbarment. The Florida Bar's Initial Brief on Appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee's recommendation of a one year suspension in this matter is wholly unsupported by existing case law, and has no reasonable basis in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline, and as such should be rejected by this Court. The appropriate sanction for Respondent, where she withheld pertinent information to the prejudice of the defendant in a criminal death penalty case, deprived the defendant and the public of the perception that he was receiving a fair and impartial trial, prejudiced the integrity of the entire legal system, intentionally misled the Judicial Qualifications Commission during her disciplinary hearing, caused extensive judicial resources to be unnecessarily expended, and also provided misleading testimony during the instant disciplinary proceedings, is disbarment.

Further, the Referee did not properly weigh the mitigating factors offered by Respondent, and failed to make appropriate findings regarding aggravating factors that were clearly present in the instant case. Upon a proper weighing of the aggravating and mitigating factors, it is clear that disbarment is the appropriate sanction in the instant case.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED SANCTION OF A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION HAS NO REASONABLE BASIS IN EXISTING CASE LAW, NOR THE STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER DISCIPLINE, AND THEREFORE SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED BY THIS COURT. THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION IN THIS MATTER IS DISBARMENT.

The referee's recommendation of a one year suspension in this matter is wholly unsupported by existing case law, and has no reasonable basis in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline, and as such should be rejected by this Court. The appropriate sanction for Respondent, where she withheld pertinent information to the prejudice of the defendant in a criminal death penalty case, deprived the defendant and the public of the perception that he was receiving a fair and impartial trial, prejudiced the integrity of the entire legal system, caused extensive judicial resources to be unnecessarily expended, intentionally misled the Judicial Qualifications Commission during her disciplinary hearing, and further provided misleading testimony during the instant disciplinary proceedings, is disbarment.

"The Supreme Court shall have exclusive jurisdiction to regulate...the discipline of persons admitted [to the practice of law]." Art. V, §15, Fla. Const.

Therefore, "unlike the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt, the determination of the appropriate discipline is peculiarly in the province of this Court's authority." *The Florida Bar v. O'Connor*, 945 So.2d 1113, 1120 (Fla. 2006). As ultimately it is this Court's responsibility to order the appropriate punishment, this Court enjoys broad latitude in reviewing a referee's recommendation. *The Florida Bar v. Anderson*, 538 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1989). The Court usually will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law and in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. *The Florida Bar v. Temmer*, 753 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1999). Here, the recommended discipline has no reasonable basis in existing case law, nor the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline, and the Referee's recommendation should be rejected.

The instant proceedings arise from Respondent's misconduct in failing to disclose her social encounters, and significant emotional relationship, with the prosecutor in a pending death penalty case over which she presided, and in which she actually recommended imposition of the ultimate penalty, death. The Referee in the instant proceedings found that her failure to make such disclosure to the defense when same was required pursuant to the judicial canons, was an intentional and deliberate violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), in that it was dishonest and misled the defense

into believing that there was no basis upon which the Defendant could ask for a mistrial and/or recusal of the presiding judge. (ROR 6). Respondent's failure to disclose under these circumstances was the functional equivalent of an affirmative misrepresentation that there had been no conduct which would impact on the Defendant's belief that he was receiving a fair and impartial trial, that there were no appearances of impropriety to disclose.

Respondent engaged in an additional violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) when she deliberately misled the JQC regarding the true nature and significance of her relationship with ASA Scheinberg upon their specific inquiry. Respondent's failure to disclose the pertinent facts regarding their relationship was dishonest and misled the JQC into believing there was nothing more than an inconsequential relationship between Respondent and the prosecutor in the case. (ROR 7-8). Specifically, the Referee found:

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