IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No.:SC11-2311 TFB File No.: 2010-71,157(11G)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ANA I. GARDINER,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. DAVID BOGENSCHUTZ

Attorney for Respondent Bogenschutz, Dutko & Kroll P.A. 600 S. Andrews Avenue, Suite 500 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel.: (954) 764-2500

Fax: (954) 764-5040 Florida Bar No. 131174 jdblaw0515@aol.com

JACK GOLDBERGER

Attorney for Respondent Atterbury, Goldberger & Weiss, P.A. 250 Australian Ave South, Suite 1400 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 659-8300 jgoldberger@agwpa.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent notes that the Florida Bar's Statement of the Case and of the Facts is incomplete but relatively accurate, with the following exceptions: It fails to relate all of the evidence and testimony taken at the Final Hearing before the Referee, which will be added later under this Section; and there are several inaccuracies present in the Statement of the Case and of the Facts that will be discussed seriatim, to wit:

- 1) This matter was referred to the <u>Fifteenth</u> Judicial Circuit for appointment of a Referee, not the Eleventh, as indicated in the Bar's Initial Brief;
- 2) The Florida Bar's Statement of the Case, in many instances, intersperses <u>argument</u>, as opposed to facts, for instance, on page 3 of the Initial Brief, the Florida Bar opines that "this failure (to disclose the Timpano's and Blue Martini encounters, or phone calls exchanged over a weekend) when disclosure was required, left the defense with the misleading impression that there was nothing to disclose, and that there was nothing that could give rise to the appearance of impropriety in this case."
- 3) On page 4 of the Initial Brief, the Florida Bar suggests that Respondent "dissuaded" Scheinberg from taking any action regarding the Timpano's encounter and cites to page 513 of the Transcript. <u>Nothing</u> in that section suggests that Respondent "dissuaded" Scheinberg to do any such thing.
- 4) On page 4 of the Initial Brief, the Florida Bar suggests that they "helped each other" through the most traumatic events of their lives death of family members, divorces, raising children as single parents. It should be noted that their divorces were already complete for years and that the Florida Bar's suggestion that Respondent "shut out people" except those who were "most close to her, including ASA Scheinberg" is belied by the very transcripts and exhibits referred to that is, that Scheinberg was not a "close friend," but "a friend," which was discussed with and admitted to before the Judicial Qualifications Commission and at the hearing conducted before Judge Cox.
- 5) The Florida Bar continues to argue, at page 10, their theory as opposed to a Statement of the Case and Facts.
- 6) Additional facts were presented at the hearing which the Florida Bar fails to acknowledge in its Statement of the Case and Facts. The Florida Bar put on two witnesses in this matter: Michael Tenzer, the guilt phase attorney for Loureiro in both the trial (I) and re-trial (II); and Bruce Rogow, the "Special Prosecutor" hired by the State Attorney to review the Loureiro case after the publication of the multiple telephone and text contacts between Respondent and ASA Scheinberg during the Loureiro. Mr. Tenzer testified that he and Scheinberg were "friendly,"

^{1 .} Respondent adopts the Symbols and References as used by the Florida Bar in its Initial Brief.

but that he did not have a "social relationship" with him (TR 74-75). He did not know what the term "social" meant, although he agreed that there were times when he would "go out with" Mr. Scheinberg, watch football games, but did not have any "social relationship with him." (TR 75), the same question basically asked by Judge Wolfe of Ms. Gardiner concerning the <u>Timpano's</u> incident – concededly the sole area of inquiry by the JQC (R. Ex. 1) at the time of Respondent's testimony on November 13th, 2008. He further conceded that he had no knowledge of any of the contacts relating to the trial resulting in a denial by Judge Brown of his motion to secure those records (TR 81).

The Florida Bar then placed Bruce Rogow before the court as a witness. Mr. Rogow, further, was the individual hired by the State Attorney on this <u>death</u> penalty case who testified that he came to a conclusion that caused him to recommend to Mr. Satz that the matter should be vacated and set aside for a new trial (TR 90-92). On cross-examination, Mr. Rogow admitted that he had only handled two death penalty cases in his entire 40 year career: one was a plea at the trial level to a life sentence, and one was as a habeas corpus procedure – not a trial – where the Defendant was eventually executed (TR 92-93). He looked at less than one month's worth of records (TR 96), couldn't remember the records he even reviewed (TR 97), never interviewed either Respondent or Mr. Scheinberg (TR 98), researched not one single case (TR 99), did not know the substance of the contacts (TR 99), was in the case for a 30-day period (TR 100), never discussed the matter with any expert or anyone else (TR 99), never had any student or himself research the issue as to whether a "mere appearance of impropriety" was sufficient to vacate and set aside a conviction (TR 102), but concluded that because of that "appearance" arising from undisclosed and ongoing conversations, the case should be vacated (TR 101-102) – on an 11-1 jury verdict for death (TR 94). He made no determination as to whether or not there was a difference between an "appearance of impropriety" or an "actual" impropriety that should affect a verdict, with no authority, no case law, no similar facts, nothing other than his own opinion based on his "sense of how this would play." (TR 107). He then agreed with the Public Defender to set aside the verdict on the facts as set forth herein (TR 110).

- 7) The Respondent then put multiple witnesses on the stand for purposes of the findings of the court as to guilt and in mitigation.
- a) Brian Cavanagh, the actual trial prosecutor in Loureiro II (TR 128). Mr. Cavanagh, besides being the Prosecutor in Loureiro II, had been with the State Attorney's Office since May 1978 (TR 129). Since 1988, he was in the homicide division of the State Attorney's Office and had, since 2005, been the Chief of that Division (TR 130). He tried over 100 homicide cases, only very few had resulted in death, and had reviewed Loureiro I because of the suggestion that he had possibly not received a fair trial in the public venue (TR 131). He testified, "We

knew he had gotten a fair trial, no ifs, ands, or buts about it." (TR 131). He had appeared before Respondent "many times," and felt that she was "one of the finest trial judges we have ever been privileged to have in our county," knew her to have the "highest, most impeccable reputation as a judge and a lawyer," and "her word, if she said something, you knew it was golden. This was what it was." (TR 132-33). At the second trial, a new second chair lawyer, Mr. Rosenbaum, raised the issue of whether or not a previous conviction of the defendant from Nicaragua could be used as an aggravating circumstance (TR 134), and that Mr. Rosenbaum was "night and day, heads and shoulders, much more insightful, thorough, and zealous," than previous counsel (TR 135). He testified that an 11-1 death recommendation was "exceptionally rare" (TR 135). He eventually decided to leave out the Nicaraguan issue as an aggravator (TR 136). In addition, at the second trial, the children of the defendant testified and the penalty phase was conducted in a "night and day difference." (TR 138), so much so was the representation at the second trial more effective that Mr. Cavanagh, despite the 11-1 death verdict in the original trial, expected that the second trial verdict would not be death (TR 139).

He would believe Respondent "implicitly," would have no reason to disbelieve her, and if she advised him that she did not recall something or didn't think she should have said something, would believe her (TR 144). The red herring of the alleged conduct had nothing to do with, nor did it undermine, the integrity of the trial, and it was more a "perception, rather than actuality." (TR 146). He was "morally certain" there was no impropriety that affected that case (TR 147), and that the decision to vacate was an internal decision of the State Attorney, <u>despite</u> what he saw on the Record (TR 148).

b) Dr. Michael Brannon. Dr. Brannon is a forensic psychologist who has handled over 20,000 cases and been declared an expert in forensic psychology over 2,000 times (TR 152). He knows Respondent to have a reputation, from both sides of the bench, as "superb" (TR 158), always prepared, extremely efficient, knew the law, and worked her way through cases without unnecessary stalling (TR 159). There have never been questions raised as to her truthfulness, honesty, or integrity (TR 159). In October 2008, Dr. Brannon met with Respondent in the criminal division (this was one month before Respondent's testimony before the JQC) (TR 160; TFB Ex. 3). He knew of the "horrific comments" about Respondent on the local blog (TR 160). When he spoke to her, she seemed visibly upset and distressed, and it was different than she presented in the courtroom (TR 163). She had been crying a lot, dark circles under her eyes, her face was very puffy, slumped in her chair, lethargic without much energy, "almost in a shell," and not saying very much (TR 164). She was tearful throughout their entire conversation, could not stay on track, and was distraught (TR 165). She was despondent over the

situation and talked about her children – she talked about them being exposed to some horrific things being said about her on the local blog and around the courthouse (TR 165). These were all anonymous posts about her on a blog allowing them to say "the most awful things about other people but not have to take responsibility for what they said." (TR 166). He had never seen her in this condition, and so overwhelmingly upset that she was having trouble speaking about what was going on, and concerned about her children, as a single mom (TR 166). She discussed two deaths in her family that she was very upset about, and very close together – her grandmother and father (TR 167). She talked about having worked "very hard to be a judge," but had not recovered about the loss of these two family members (TR 167). She displayed signs of a deep depression, a major depressive disorder, clinically depressed, change in her weight, pessimistic, lethargic, irritable, tearful, despondent – all of the things you look for in depression were very clear (TR 168). On a scale of 1-10, 10 being the most severely depressed that he has seen in his practice, "she would be a 10." (TR 170). She talked about how "life was too much for her, and that if she didn't wake up, that would be okay with her" (TR 170). He opined that this type of level of depression, in October 2008, could have a "tremendous impact on someone's ability to think clearly." (TR 170). People just don't have the energy to think things through or think about what they are doing or saying, thus depression is not only an emotional disorder, but also has a large component of cognitive and behavioral contributions (TR 171). She was extremely highly impaired in her ability to organize her thoughts or weave consistency through her thinking, (TR 171-172). Those triggers continued with Respondent throughout the contact that she was forced to endure with the chief writer of that courthouse blog, who waited frequently outside her door to take pictures, talk with her, or make some other accusation (TR 174). It was hard for her to escape from these triggers (TR 175). Although she had had treatment in the past for depression, she made the mistake of discontinuing it because she felt better, which is a normal reaction that people have (TR 175). Even early to mid-2009, after the JQC hearing, he observed her condition continued to worsen (TR 177). He had never in his forensic psychology history, since 1994, in 5 surrounding counties, seen judges addressed with such disrespect as this anonymous blog (TR 178). "There had almost seemed to be a reveling in that, a celebration in that, people's misery and misfortune, to the point they are willing to make things up and talk about attorneys and willing to say things anonymously to cause other people pain. It's remarkable." (TR 178).

The second time he saw her was not much different than the first time: dark circles under her eyes, gain in body weight, tearful, slumped in her chair, disorganized in her speech, no energy, listless, and was talking in a helpless way saying she didn't know what to do (TR 179). She had sought help, spoken to

someone, was starting treatment, but it really hadn't taken hold or she hadn't begun the process – there had not been a lot of intervention at that point (TR 180). If there was any abatement of the symptoms that he first observed in October 2008, "it was negligible." (TR 180). However, it was possible to operate on a high-level as a circuit judge, because it doesn't trigger any depression, serves as a distraction, and it is a "safe island." (TR 181). Most people get through such a depression who don't get immediate treatment by finding some hobby, some activity, some person removed from their situation, and something that they can do that distracts them from what usually makes them feel sad or depressed (TR 181-82). There was no need to test her to see this happening, and he looked and considered other collateral sources in reaching his conclusion (TR 183).

Crying, distraught, isolated – they don't know how to fix it (TR 184), and they are desperately looking at other people to try to help them (TR 184). It would give a person in such a condition an extra burden to respond to questions or be clear and concise in those responses, they have less emotional energy to think through clearly, and it would be more difficult for a person in that situation especially if it was stressful (TR 185). A person having that kind of depression doesn't usually go to friends because "friends don't help people through with major depression, number 1, and, number 2, people who have major depression feel like other people don't want to be burdened by what they have to say. They feel like other people are going to be troubled by it, and they realize the depths of their own anguish and don't want to put that on someone else." (TR 185). It is certainly not unusual for people with severe depression to isolate themselves (TR 185). A person with this severe type of depression would just shut down in terms of their ability to functions (TR 186). They stay at home, they don't leave their house, they don't want to go out and address the world, they wouldn't answer the telephone -and what he heard from Respondent was consistent with that "shutting down." (TR 186). It may not look that way, but their brain is in quick-sand (TR 186). They are stuck, they know they are stuck, reach out trying to get through it, but cannot describe what they are feeling to somebody else who hasn't experienced that (TR 187). It is normal to retreat into work as an escape, if it distracts you from the things that make you depressed, and when the depressive things raise their head again, it exacerbates the depression, makes it worse, and "you retreat." (TR 187), like having to testify in front of the JQC would be a trigger (TR 187). She looked exactly the same in October 2008 as she did in July or August of 2009, and there is no question in his mind that the depression that he saw in October was a sustained depression that continued until he saw her in July or August of 2009 (TR 196). His opinion is that it would be highly unlikely that she would have any type of emotional energy or ability to pull out of that depth of depression in the three week period between October 2008 and November 2008 (TR 196).

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